1960

Ray Keith Sudbury and Ruth Jean Sudbury v. Olaf Theodore Stevensen, Jr., and Barbara Ann Stevensen : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prior to June, 1958, Plaintiffs and Defendants were partners, conducting a business known as "Ollie's Terrace Room" in Salt Lake City, Utah. Plaintiffs acquired their one-half ($\frac{1}{2}$) interest in that partnership from Defendants by paying to Defendants the sum of \$42,500.00 (Deposition Keith Sudbury, page 3, line 8).

In June, 1958, the parties agreed in writing for the sale of Plaintiffs' partnership interest back to Defendants for the lesser sum of \$31,608.41. A copy of that

agreement, the subject of this suit, is attached to Plaintiffs' complaint as Exhibit "A." An unpaid contract balance of \$25,408.41 was to be liquidated by Defendants in weekly installments of \$100.00 each, commencing September 1, 1958, three months after the contract was signed.

In addition to this first three month period without payment, Defendants were accorded a cumulative fifteen week grace period, from and after September 1, 1958 (Paragraph III C, Exhibit "A").

The provisions of the contract pertaining to security and default are of prime importance to the case and provide as follows:

"SECURITY FOR PERFORMANCE:

V.

That it is agreed that as security for performance of the payment of money herein specified to be made to SELLERS that BUYERS shall execute a blanket chattel mortgage upon all equipment and tenants' improvements in and upon those premises that have been used for the conduct of the Limited Partnership herein referred to, which mortgage it is understood and agreed shall be considered a second mortgage as to the mortgage that BUYERS presently contemplate entering into to obtain financing of said business; that it is understood and agreed that the equipment and fixtures to be mortgaged to SELLERS under the terms of this agreement may be traded or replaced by BUYERS without first obtaining consent of SELLERS, provided that none of such

equipment is disposed of by BUYERS for the sole purpose of raising capital or satisfying creditors.

DEFAULT:

VI.

That it is agreed that in the event of BUYERS' failure to pay to SELLERS the sums due them under the terms of this agreement that SELLERS may, at their option, elect to proceed in either one or the other of the following designated manners:

A. *MORTGAGE FORECLOSURE*: SELLERS may, at their option, declare the whole of the unpaid balance under the terms of this agreement at once due and payable and proceed to collect same and foreclose their security herein given, it being understood and agreed in such event, however, that SELLERS shall have no rights against BUYERS beyond BUYERS' assets that may be represented by the furniture, fixtures, tenants' improvements, and leases upon the premises herein referred to, and it is agreed that in the event of election to foreclose as in this paragraph stated, SELLERS may sell any of said property at public or private sale and retain the full proceeds thereof as their own in discharge of any remaining obligation of BUYERS to SELLERS.

B. *FORFEITURE*: SELLERS, alternative to foreclosure as above specified, may take all of BUYERS' right, title and interest in and to said business contemplated by the terms of this agreement to the full exclusion of all right, title and interest of BUYERS in and to any of said property and the business represented thereby in full discharge of any remaining obligations, and in

such event SELLERS may hold same as their own and operate said business in the manner that they may deem desirable, being responsible, nevertheless, to the creditors of BUYERS as said creditors' rights may appear as provided by law.

That as an express and integral part of the consideration of the terms of this agreement, and in consideration of SELLERS' consenting that BUYERS' assets shall not be amenable to process by SELLERS in the event of default by BUYERS, that BUYERS hereby covenant and agree that in the event of default and an election by SELLERS to proceed under the terms of the foregoing forfeiture provision that BUYERS will never raise nor assert as a defense to any such action defense of forfeiture, and they hereby expressly waive and covenant not to claim as their own any rights in any of said property nor rights to refunds of any moneys that may be paid under the terms of this agreement, and BUYERS covenant that they will not sue upon theory of forfeiture nor assert said theory either by way of counterclaim, affirmative defense or offset in any action that may be brought by any of the parties to this agreement; that each party to this agreement understands that Courts do not favor forfeitures, but that each party consents that an indispensable part of the consideration for the terms of this agreement is that BUYERS covenant not to sue or defend upon the theory of forfeiture and they do hereby expressly waive and consent not to assert such right."

At the time the agreement between the parties was negotiated, the provisions quoted above were specifically and fully discussed by Keith Sudbury, one of the Plain-

tiffs, and Theodore Olaf Stevenson, one of the Defendants (Deposition Keith Sudbury, page 38, line 30 through page 41, line 15). No chattel mortgage was ever executed.

No payment was made on the contract by Defendants until payment of \$300.00 on December 8, 1958, which was at the end of the fifteen weeks grace period. The \$300.00 was for the payments that were due September 1, 8 and 15, 1958.

On January 2, 1959, Defendants paid \$1,000.00 for payments due for September 22, 1958 through November 24, 1958 inclusive. No other payments were made until March 16, 1959; thereafter all payments were made fifteen weeks after their due dates and on the last day of the fifteen weeks grace period (Ex. P-3).

On August 10, 1959, Defendants gave Plaintiffs two checks in the amounts of \$100.00 and \$200.00 respectively. The \$200.00 check was for payments due April 20, and 27, 1959. The \$100.00 check, postdated to August 17, 1959, was for the installment due May 4, 1959.

Both of those checks were dishonored by Defendants' bank. Because of the refusal to honor the checks, Defendants were then delinquent a total of eighteen payments totalling \$1,800.00.

Plaintiffs gave Defendants written notice on August 17, 1959 that they would accept no further installment payments and were accelerating the payments. Defendants were told that there was a balance due Plaintiffs of \$23,506.51 which Plaintiffs would expect a short time

after Defendants returned from Europe so that it would not be necessary for Plaintiffs to foreclose Defendants equipment or take over the business (Exhibit P-4).

Thereafter on September 1, 1959, Defendants attempted to pay \$500.00, purportedly to bring the contract payments current. That sum was refused by Plaintiffs and this lawsuit resulted (Exhibit P-5).

Defendants filed no answer in the case. The case was heard by the trial court on motions for summary judgment. Defendants were granted summary judgment against Plaintiffs, and this appeal results.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT ONE

THE FINDINGS AND JUDGMENT OF THE TRIAL COURT THAT DEFENDANTS WERE NOT IN DEFAULT UNDER THE CONTRACT, AND THAT THE CONTRACT WAS VALID AND SUBSISTING IS CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE WHICH IS UNCONTRADICTED THAT DEFENDANTS WERE DELINQUENT A TOTAL OF EIGHTEEN PAYMENTS.

POINT TWO

THE JUDGMENT, FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS OF THE TRIAL COURT ENTIRELY IGNORES THE COVENANT OF DEFENDANTS NOT TO SUE NOR DEFEND ON THE GROUND OF FORFEITURE.

POINT THREE

THE JUDGMENT OF THE TRIAL COURT THAT THE FORFEITURE PROVISION OF THE CONTRACT IS UNENFORCEABLE AS A MATTER OF LAW IS ERRONEOUS.

POINT FOUR

THE FINDINGS AND JUDGMENT OF THE TRIAL COURT THAT PLAINTIFFS DID NOT ACCELERATE THE CONTRACT BALANCE AND THAT DEFENDANTS MADE A VALID TENDER ARE IMMATERIAL AND CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE.

POINT FIVE

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT MAKING AND ENTERING FINDINGS OF FACT TO SUPPORT ITS CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND JUDGMENT.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE FINDINGS AND JUDGMENT OF THE TRIAL COURT THAT DEFENDANTS WERE NOT IN DEFAULT UNDER THE CONTRACT, AND THAT THE CONTRACT WAS VALID AND SUBSISTING IS CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE WHICH IS UNCONTRADICTED THAT DEFENDANTS WERE DELINQUENT A TOTAL OF EIGHTEEN PAYMENTS.

Although the record in this matter gives little solace to one attempting to ascertain how the trial court reached the conclusions it did, certain elements stand out as guideposts.

A complaint was filed praying for a declaration of a forfeiture of Defendants rights in the agreement and the assets described therein. No answer was filed by Defendants, but Defendants' motion for summary judgment casts some light upon their position. They prayed for summary judgment on the basis that the contract was valid and subsisting and that Defendants were not in default thereunder (R. 19).

An affidavit of one of Defendants sets forth some of the material one would expect to find in an answer. These are (1) a denial that Defendants had exhausted the fifteen weeks grace period, and (2) denial that Defendants failed to make the payments that became due on August 10th and 17th, 1959. Apart from these two points, Defendants requested a trial to put in evidence on other points of the case (R. 21).

The findings and conclusions of the trial court go far afield from the points raised by Defendants' motion, but in part find that there was no default and that the contract was valid and subsisting. This was erroneous based upon the uncontradicted evidence before the trial court, and warrants a reversal of the order of the trial court granting Defendants' motion for summary judgment.

The contract is clear that the \$100.00 weekly payments were to commence the 1st day of September, 1958. Defendants were accorded a cumulative fifteen weeks grace period. It is apparent that the Defendants elected to take immediate advantage of the fifteen weeks grace period, because no payments were made from the time of execution of the contract in June, 1958, until the 8th day of December, 1958. Then the sum of \$300.00 was paid for the payments due September 1, 8 and 15, 1958.

A glance at the calendar and use of simple arithmetic will establish that all payments thereafter were fifteen weeks delinquent, to the end of the accorded grace period (Ex. P-3). The last payment was made on July 27, 1959,

and was for the installment due April 13, 1959.

The evidence is uncontradicted that the checks given on August 10, 1959, for payments due April 20 and 27, 1959, and May 4, 1959, were refused and dishonored by Defendants' bank (Ex. P-1; Ex. P-2; Deposition of Keith Sudbury, Pages 10-17).

The record is barren of contradiction that Defendants were then in arrears eighteen payments totalling \$1,800.00, and were therefore in default.

Before any further payments were tendered by Defendants, Plaintiffs delivered written notice of default (Ex. P-4).

The ruling of the trial court that the contract was valid and subsisting and that Defendants were not in default is contrary to all of the evidence and is erroneous.

POINT TWO

THE JUDGMENT, FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS OF THE TRIAL COURT ENTIRELY IGNORES THE COVENANT OF DEFENDANTS NOT TO SUE NOR DEFEND ON THE GROUND OF FORFEITURE.

The trial court in its summary judgment determined that the forfeiture provision was unenforceable. In order to do this, it ignored what the parties declared to be an "indispensable" part of the consideration for the agreement: an express covenant not to sue nor raise the defense of forfeiture.

The contract provides:

“* * * in consideration of sellers’ consenting that buyers’ assets shall not be amenable to process by sellers in the event of default by buyers that buyers hereby covenant and agree that in the event of default and an election by sellers to proceed under the terms of the foregoing forfeiture provision that buyers will never raise nor assert as a defense to any such action the defense of forfeiture, and they hereby expressly waive and covenant not to claim as their own any rights in any of said property * * *; that each party to this agreement understands that Courts do not favor forfeitures, but that each party consents that an *indispensable* part of the consideration for the terms of this agreement is that buyers covenant not to sue or defend upon the theory of forfeiture and they do hereby expressly waive and consent not to assert such right.”

A covenant not to sue is universally recognized and uniformly enforced. 45 Am. Jur., Release, Section 3.

The Restatement of the Law of Contracts phrases the rule as follows:

“Section 405. CONTRACT NOT TO SUE.

“(1) A contract by which one party promises never to sue the other party, or a third person for the enforcement of a specific right, or not to do so for a limited time, bars an action for that purpose during any agreed time * * *”

The enforceability of a covenant not to sue is tested by the same standards as are determinative for any other type of contract. If the elements of an enforceable contract are found to be present in a covenant not to sue, the covenant not to sue is enforceable.

In this case we have two parties, competent to contract, who in clear and explicit terms, contracted with regard to a subject matter as to which they were free to contract. The mutual assent of both is clear from the language used. There was an independent consideration given by Plaintiffs for Defendants' promise not to raise the defense of forfeiture. There is no tinge of illegality or imposition involved in their agreement. The covenant not to sue thus meets all the requisites for the formation of a valid and enforceable contract. 12 Am. Jur. p. 509, Contracts, Section 16.

The rights of the parties which were exchanged in connection with the covenant not to sue certainly represent a fair exchange of values. Plaintiffs gave up the very valuable right to look to the personal assets of Defendants for the enforcement of Defendants' promise to pay the agreed purchase price for the business. Defendants, with full knowledge that courts disfavor forfeitures agreed not to invoke this attitude of the Courts if Plaintiffs had need to enforce the forfeiture provision.

By giving effect to the covenant not to sue, as the trial court should properly have done, it only remained for the court to consider whether or not there had been a default in the prescribed payments and an election by Plaintiffs to proceed under the forfeiture provision.

As discussed above in Point I, there can be no question that Defendants were in default in their payments. Further Plaintiffs notified Defendants on August 17, 1959 that they would accept no further installment

payments, and demanded payment of the full balance due under the contract (Exh. P-4). When Defendants did not pay the balance by September 11, 1959, Plaintiffs notified Defendants that they were electing to pursue the forfeiture provision unless full payment was made within 30 days thereafter (Exh. P-5). When the contract balance was not paid by November 10, 1959, this suit was commenced for declaration of the forfeiture. This clearly manifests an election by Plaintiffs of the remedy they were pursuing.

The trial court's complete disregard of the covenant not to sue clearly invades a very sacred right of human endeavor — the freedom and right to contract.

The right of private contract is no small part of liberty of citizens, and the function of the courts is to maintain and enforce contracts rather than enable parties to escape their obligations.

That principle is repeatedly announced by the courts. 12 Am. Jur., Contracts, Section 172; *McCallum v. Campbell-Simpson Motor Company*, Idaho 1960, 349 P. 2nd 986; *J. R. Simplot Company v. Chambers*, Idaho 1960, 350 P 2nd 211.

It is respectfully urged that the judgment of trial court in derogation of the express terms of the contract not to sue or defend was erroneous and should be reversed.

POINT THREE

THE JUDGMENT OF THE TRIAL COURT THAT THE FORFEITURE PROVISION OF THE CONTRACT IS UNENFORCEABLE AS A MATTER OF LAW IS ERRONEOUS.

Appellants believe the covenant not to sue or defend on the ground of forfeiture prevents Defendants from defending that the forfeiture provision of the agreement is not enforceable.

However, even without the covenant not to sue, the forfeiture provision itself, when viewed in the light of all the circumstances of the case, is the only effective remedy which Plaintiffs have under the contract, and the court therefore erred in summarily ruling as a matter of law that it was unenforceable.

19 Am. Jur., 102, Equity, Section 93, sets out the law respecting enforcement of forfeitures as follows:

“While the law does not favor forfeitures, and since all ambiguities in a contract are to be resolved against their existence, it is not to be supposed that a court of equity will lightly dispense with contracts made between competent parties and substitute therefor other agreements more in accordance with variable rules of right and conscience, thus preventing them from having that which was made by them the very essence of their agreement. Courts in general have not gone so far as to hold that equity can relieve from the consequences of the breach of a condition whenever it stands as security for the performance of some act. Forfeitures are not per se unlawful, and if a contract in unmistakable terms provides for a forfeiture, is otherwise free from legal in-

firmity, and the act secured against is of the essence of the contract, neither a court of equity nor a court of law will relieve against the forfeiture.”

In the case of *Cole v. Parker*, 5 Utah 2d 263, 300 P. 2d 623, this court said:

“In the absence of fraud or imposition, the parties are bound by the price or measure of value they have agreed on, and such price must be paid notwithstanding it may be excessive. The courts cannot supervise decisions made in the business world and grant relief when the bargain proves improvident.”

In the case of *Peck v. Judd*, 7 Utah 2d 420, 326 P. 2d 712, the court further acknowledged the right of persons to contract freely, stating at page 717:

“It is not our prerogative to step in and re-negotiate the contract of the parties. It may be conceded that with an advantaged background we may be able to improve on their work and considering the changed times and conditions say what now appears to us to be fair under such conditions. Possibly at least one of the parties would agree. There is no reason why we should consider the vendee privileged and entitled to our intervention unless the conditions sought to be imposed on the vendee are unconscionable. Equity should not indulge in refinements and exact valuations at a time subsequent to the breach or rescission, further than to determine if enforcement of the contract results in gross inequity, and unless and until the enforcement would be highly unconscionable, we should recognize and honor the right of persons to contract freely and to

make real and genuine mistakes when the dealings are at arms' length. It will be conceded, we think, that where a seller seeks not only his pound of flesh but likewise a goodly supply of blood he should not be indulged.

Nor should we fail to observe how many purchasers have made most advantageous bargains and when the contracts have run have secured property three times what the poor sellers received under their contracts. Should not equity, if we are going paternalistic, under the same tokens say to such a buyer, You can't do this to the poor seller—the property to which he still holds title is now worth two or three times what you are paying him and that is unconscionable; you will be required to pay more than the contract calls for in order that he be not required to give a deed to property worth three times what he is being paid.”

By application of the foregoing pronouncements to the case at bar, we, also, find a situation in which the forfeiture provision should be enforceable.

We have parties standing on equal footing and dealing at arms' length. There is no fiduciary relationship between them. Neither is under disability. There is no suggestion or claim of fraud in the inducement or execution of the agreement. The business experience of each had been a common one.

The parties parted. They agreed that Defendants should purchase Plaintiffs' interest. The sale was of an interest in a going business, but there were certain tangible assets to which Defendants needed unencumbered

title in order to borrow money to continue the business. The agreement, therefore, constituted a present conveyance of all tangible assets.

Because Defendants desired to borrow money on the business assets and were unwilling to make an unqualified promise to pay the purchase price, the contract, of necessity, assumed some unique characteristics as compared to an ordinary sales contract.

Thus, at Defendants' insistence, the following provisions came into the agreement:

(a). Title to all of the assets of the business passed immediately to Defendants;

(b). Plaintiffs were to have a chattel mortgage as security for the agreed purchase price; however, the chattel mortgage was expressly subordinated to additional financing arrangements, unlimited in amount, which Defendants might later desire to make (R. 7).

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