1960

Ray Keith Sudbury and Ruth Jean Sudbury v. Olaf Theodore Stevensen, Jr., and Barbara Ann Stevensen : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

one-half interest in the property that defendants already owned prior to the agreement. The strict foreclosure provision of the agreement contained in Paragraph VI, (A) provides that in the event of default that plaintiffs would be permitted to sell not only the property they had sold to defendants but also defendants' one-half interest that they already owned, and that plaintiffs would be entitled to retain all of the proceeds from that sale. The forfeiture provision contained in Paragraph VI, (B) provides that in the event of default the buyers will not only forfeit their interest in the one-half interest purchase from plaintiffs but that the buyers will also forfeit their one-half interest in the property that they already owned prior to the agreement.

The agreement clearly contemplates that plaintiffs will acquire a security interest in not only the one-half interest in the property that they sold to defendants but that they will also get a security interest in the one-half interest in the property that was owned by the defendants. By the terms of the agreement title to plaintiffs' interest in the property passed immediately to the defendants. Plaintiffs never did have title to the one-half interest that was owned by defendants, so the only way that plaintiffs could possibly get a security interest in the one-half interest owned by the defendants prior to the execution of the agreement would be for the defendants

to give the plaintiffs a chattel mortgage on such interest. Since title to the one-half interest sold passed at the time of the execution of the agreement, the only way the plaintiffs could acquire a security interest in the property sold was for defendants to give plaintiffs a chattel mortgage back. It would be inconsistent to hold that plaintiffs had a chattel mortgage on the one-half interest belonging to defendants originally and had a conditional sales contract on the one-half interest that they sold to defendants. Defendants never did execute and deliver a chattel mortgage as called for by the agreement; however, an agreement to execute a mortgage in equity is deemed a mortgage as between the parties.

The agreement is inconsistent. Paragraph V of the agreement provides that defendants will give plaintiffs a chattel mortgage on all of the property that constitutes Ollies Terrace Room. Paragraph VI, (A) provides that in the event of default the chattel mortgage may be foreclosed and all of the property (which would include defendants one-half interest) can be sold and all of the money realized therefrom retained by plaintiffs. This in effect is a provision for a strict foreclosure of the chattel mortgage. Paragraph VI, (B) provides that in the event of a default defendants will forfeit not only all of their interest in the property they purchased from plaintiffs but also all of their interest in the property

they owned prior to the agreement in question. This provision is a forfeiture provision and is one that is common to a conditional sales contract. As we have already seen an instrument in legal effect cannot be both a chattel mortgage and a conditional sales contract. It must be one or the other. In the event of a default, the methods of enforcing a chattel mortgage are entirely different than the methods of enforcing a conditional sales contract.

Construing the agreement as a mortgage instead of a conditional sale will do justice to the parties. Defendants will be required to pay the balance due under the agreement. Plaintiffs will get their money and defendants will retain their business.

The trial court in finding of fact No. 5 (R. 35) and in its conclusion of law (R. 36) and in its judgment (R. 37) found as a fact that it was the intention of the parties that the agreement in question have the effect of a chattel mortgage, and the court held that it in legal effect was a chattel mortgage. We think the court was clearly right in so holding.

POINT II

THE OPTION TO ACCELERATE PAYMENTS AND MAKE ENTIRE DEBT DUE WAS NOT EXERCISED BY PLAINTIFFS AND DEFENDANTS ARE NOT IN DEFAULT UNDER THE AGREEMENT.

The trial court has found and properly so that the agreement in legal effect is a chattel mortgage.

That being so the question then arises was the option to accelerate the payments and make the entire debt due exercised? In determining the answer to this question certain things should be kept in mind.

OPTIONAL OR AUTOMATIC ACCELERATION

1. Paragraph VI (A) of the agreement provides that in the event of default the "Sellers may, at their option, declare the whole of the unpaid balance under this agreement at once due and payable" * * *. It should be noted that this provision gives the seller an option to accelerate the payments in the event of default. It does not provide that in the event of default the payments are automatically accelerated without any act on the part of the sellers.

10 C.J.S. Sec. 251 (c), page 749, states the rule as follows,

"An acceleration clause may be absolute or optional in form. If absolute, maturity occurs on the happening of the specified default; if optional, maturity does not occur until the exercise of the option."

To the same effect see the annotation in 159 A.L.R., 1077 entitled Acceleration of Note or Mortgage as Automatic or Optional, where the rule is stated at page 1091, as follows:

"It has been uniformly held that a provision in a note or mortgage accelerating the maturity for non-payment of interest or installments, or other default, at the option of

the holder or the mortgagee, is not self executing but requires some action on the part of the holder or mortgagee without which the amount will not become due.”

AFFIRMATIVE DECLARATION NECESSARY

2. What is essential to the proper exercise of an option to accelerate maturity?

a. The general rule is stated in 5 A.L.R. 2d 968,

“That a provision in a bill or note accelerating the maturity thereof on nonpayment of interest or installments, or other default at the option of the holder, requires some affirmative action on the part of the holder, evidencing his election to take advantage of the accelerating provision, and that until such action has been taken the provision has no operation. In other words, some positive action on the part of the holder is an essential condition for the exercise of his option and a mere mental intention to declare the full amount due is not sufficient.”

b. As demonstrated by the annotation in 5 A.L.R. 2d 968, it is uniformly held that it is essential for a valid exercise of an option to accelerate the maturity of a bill or note or an installment under a contract that the holder or payee or the seller do some positive act to indicate the exercise of the option.

DECLARATION NOT SUFFICIENT TO ACCELERATE UNLESS FOLLOWED BY AFFIRMA-

TIVE ACT TOWARD ENFORCING DECLARED INTENTION.

3. The next question is, what constitutes a positive act on the part of a person who is exercising the option to accelerate?

a. On page 972 of 5 A.L.R. 2d the general rule is stated,

“While it is impossible to formulate a hard and fast rule by which each act can be immediately classified in regard to its sufficiency, the test seems to be the definiteness and finality of the holders action as expression of his election. Stated generally, the rule is that the exercise of the option must be made in a manner so clear and unequivocal as to leave no doubt as to the holders intention and to apprise the maker effectively of the fact that the option has been exercised.” (See to the same effect *Union Central Life Insurance Company v. Adams*, 169 Okla. 572, 38 P. 2d 76.)

b. In 36 Am. Jur., Sec. 393, p. 884 the rule is stated as follows:

“The general rule is that where the acceleration of the maturity of a mortgage debt on default is made optional with the mortgagee, some affirmative action must be taken by him evidencing his election to take advantage of the accelerating provision, and that until such action has been taken, the provision has no operation. (See cases cited under Note 18, page 884 of 36 Am. Jur.) The exercise of the option should be made in a man-

ner clear and unequivocal, so as to leave no doubt as to the mortgagees intention * * * even a declaration may be a sufficient exercise of the option, but to be effective, the declaration must be followed by an affirmative act toward enforcing the declared intention."

A mere declaration of intention to accelerate is not sufficient but to be effective as stated by the Supreme Court of Oklahoma in *Union Central Life Insurance Company v. Adams*, 169 Okl. 572, 38 P. 2d 26,

"The declaration must be followed by an affirmative act towards enforcing the declared intention."

WHO MAY EXERCISE OPTION

4. Who may elect to exercise the option to accelerate the payments?

a. In 59 C.J.S., Sec. 495 (5) (d) the rule is stated,

"The terms of the deed of trust or mortgage control as to the person who may elect to accelerate the maturity of the debt secured * * * joint owners of a mortgage must join in an election. (See *Seligman v. Berg*, 251 N.Y. Supp. 689; *Beach v. Tangier Hotel Company*, 179 N.Y. Supp. 657.)

In 10 C.J.S., Sec. 251 (d) p. 750, the rule is stated,

"WHO MAY EXERCISE OPTION.
* * * Where under the provisions of the instrument, only the holders of the note can

declare the entire indebtedness mature, if there are more than one holder a unanimous exercise of the option is required, and anything short of that is ineffective.”

TENDER BEFORE OPTION EFFECTIVELY EXERCISED.

5. What is the effect of a tender of the sum as to which there has been a default if the tender is made before the option to accelerate is exercised?

The law is to the effect that a tender of the sum as to which there has been a default, if made before the option to accelerate is exercised, bars acceleration of the maturity of the debt secured by the mortgage. In 59 C.J.S., Sec. 495 (6) (b) the rule is stated.

“A tender of the sum as to which there has been a default, if made before election to accelerate, bars acceleration of the maturity of the debt secured by the mortgage or deed of trust.”

Our Utah Court in the case of *Home Owners Loan Corporation v. Washington*, 180 U. 469, 161 P. 2d 355 (1945) adopts the rule stated above and in so doing says,

“The law relative to tender under contracts, which provide that in case of default the holder has the option to declare the whole amount due, is well set forth in 52 Am. Jur. page 245, Section 41, which is as follows: ‘Under a contract which provides that any de-

fault in the payment of the interest or an installment of the principal when due shall give the obligee an option to declare the whole amount due, the general rule is that a tender of payment of the overdue principal or interest before the option to declare the whole debt due has been exercised cuts off the right to exercise the option. *Stansbury v. Embrey*, 128 Tenn. 103, 158 S.W. 991, 47 LRA., N.S. 980; *Weinberg v. Naher*, 51 Wash. 591, 99 P. 736. This is so because the debt does not become due on the mere default in payment, but by affirmative action by which the creditor makes it known to the debtor that he intends to declare the whole debt due."

The Supreme Court of Idaho in the case of *Clark v. Paddock*, 24 Ida. 142, 132 P. 795, has adopted the same rule as the Supreme Court of Utah.

In applying the foregoing principles of law to the case now before this court, it is readily apparent that the agreement in question gives plaintiffs an option to accelerate the payments. By the clear terms of Paragraph V (A) the right to accelerate is an optional one and is not an automatic or a self-executing one. In determining whether or not plaintiffs effectively exercised the option to accelerate the payments, we should look at the first act claimed by plaintiffs to constitute such acceleration. That was the letter of August 17, 1959, Exhibit P-4, from Keith Sudbury to Ted Stevensen. That letter reads verbatim as follows:

“Dear Ted:

“Because of First Security Bank’s failure to honor your checks to me, dated August 10th and 17th, I am electing to accelerate the money you owe me under our agreement.

“There is due me the sum of \$23,506.51, which I will expect paid to me within a short time after you return from Europe so that it will not be necessary for me to foreclose your equipment or take over the business.

“I am enclosing both of these dishonored checks to you and I will accept no further sums less than the full amount due me. For that reason, I am also enclosing checks dated August 24th, August 31st, September 7th, September 14th, and September 21st, each in the amount of \$100.00.

It should be noted from the letter first of all that it is not an unequivocal statement that Sudbury elects to accelerate the payments and intends to go ahead with the mortgage foreclosure. The first paragraph states he elects to accelerate, but the second paragraph then says that he may foreclose on the equipment or he may take over the business. Foreclosure of the chattel mortgage is completely inconsistent and completely different than treating the agreement as a conditional sale and attempting to enforce the forfeiture provision by taking over the business as such. To effectively exercise the option the courts all hold that it must be made in a manner so clear and unequivocal as to leave no doubt as to

the holders intention and to apprise the defendants effectively of the fact that the option has been exercised, and in addition to that there must be an affirmative act toward enforcing the declared intention. And as stated in 36 Am. Jur., Sec. 393, p. 884,

“Even a declaration may be a sufficient exercise of the option, but to be effective, the declaration must be followed by an affirmative act toward enforcing the declared intention.”

In this case there has been no affirmative act by plaintiffs toward enforcing the mortgage by a foreclosure proceeding. On the contrary plaintiffs affirmative action has been completely inconsistent with a foreclosure of the mortgage. Plaintiffs instead of attempting to foreclose have sought all the way to enforce the forfeiture provisions of the agreement and have attempted to take over the business lock, stock and barrel. The absolute and clear cut evidence of this fact is contained in the letter from Mr. Reynolds, one of the attorneys for plaintiffs, Exhibit P-5, wherein it states,

“The Sudburys have elected to pursue their remedies under the terms of the agreement of June, 1958, based upon the default of your client, Olaf Theodore Stevenson, Jr., in failing to make the payments required of him pursuant to said agreement, and that the Sudburys have elected to declare a forfeiture of Mr. Stevenson’s right, title and

interest in as subject matter of said agreement pursuant to paragraph VI B thereof; accordingly, demand is hereby made upon you as attorney for Stevenson for the immediate delivery of possession to Sudburys of the premises, property goods, chattels and properties of every kind and character which may be the subject matter of the agreement of June, 1958, and for the execution of appropriate instruments of conveyance and transfer of titles to Sudbury.

“Specifically, you are advised that Sudburys elect hereby not to enforce the remedy of foreclosure and do elect to pursue their rightful alternative, namely forfeiture as set forth in the aforesaid agreement.

“In addition, Sudburys hereby demand an accounting on the part of your client of all receipts and disbursements, a balance sheet and a profit and loss statement applicable to the operation of the business heretofore conducted under the name and style, “Ollies Terrace Room” which business is the subject matter of the agreement of June 1958, from the date of this letter over the period to the date of delivery of possession to Sudburys as aforesaid.

“Also, you are hereby notified that Sudburys intend to pursue their legal remedies as against Stevenson for any unlawful detainer on the part of Mr. Stevenson, which may be appropriately determined.

“Finally, you are hereby advised that notwithstanding the foregoing Sudburys are willing to accord Stevenson the right to pay in full the current remaining balance of prin-

cipal and interest due on said contract within 30 days from date hereof as an additional right not provided in said agreement.”

Acceleration of all of the unpaid installments is only necessary in the event plaintiffs elected to foreclose the chattel mortgage. Acceleration of the payments would be a necessary condition precedent to a foreclosure action, while acceleration of the payments would not be a condition precedent to enforcing a forfeiture. Because plaintiffs, acting through their attorney, specifically stated that they elected not to enforce the remedy of foreclosure but did elect to pursue the remedy of forfeiture, we submit that no proper exercise of the option to accelerate was ever made by plaintiffs or if it was ever properly made, it was waived or abandoned. The declared intention to accelerate contained in Exhibit P-4 was not followed by affirmative action toward enforcing the declared intention, but on the contrary was followed by action inconsistent with enforcing the declared intention.

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